A Baluster-headed Ringed Pin
from Richmond, Nenagh

by Richard O’Brien

Field walking ploughed fields in advance of the N52 Nenagh Bypass Link Road in 1999
revealed a multitude of unstratified artefacts, including a baluster-headed" ringed pin from
Richmond townland.” Pins of this type are known from Early Medieval sites, mainly ringforts
and also from a few urban sites with a significant assemblage recorded from the medieval
Dublin excavations. The author believes this may be the first published example of this type
of pin from County Tipperary.

For the first time on an Irish road scheme the route was ploughed and systematically
walked by a team of archaeologists from Archaeological Development Services Ltd (ADS)
in order to locate sites well in advance of construction, thereby reducing delays (Figure 1).
Thirty-five fields or portions thereof were impacted by the route which stretched from
Tullahedy, west of Nenagh to Moyroe, north-east of Nenagh, encompassing the townlands
of Grallagh, Solsborough, Belleen Upper, Gortlandroe, Richmond, Coolaholloga and
Drummin respectively. Although the route had been fenced prior to survey it was not
possible to field walk nine of the fields; twenty-six fields were walked in total. The field
walking was done with the agreement of the National Monuments Service and was
supervised by the author.*
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Figure 1: Site Q Findspot (Ordnance Survey six-inch map Tipperary Sheet 20,
RMP Detail 1998, based on 3rd edition 1954).
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The field walking was divided into two phases. Phase 1 involved walking Fields 1-13
between August 4th—6th, resuming on August 17th—18th after heavy rainfall. Phase 2
involved walking Fields 14-35 between October 26th and November 19th, and rewalking
certain fields which had earlier produced dense artefact-scatters. The field walking was
done both before and after harrowing on a number of fields. The fields were walked
transversely by the team, each member spaced about 2m apart, allowing full coverage of
the surface. The finds were picked up and bagged immediately as time constraints did not
allow for the more tradional field walking method of using grids and plotting find spots. In
summary, 26 potential archaeological sites (A-Z) were discovered consisting of eight burnt
stone spreads, seven lithic scatters (flint, stone axes or chert), a possible pre-bog field wall,
two possible medieval sites, four possible late medieval sites and four sites of suspect
archaeological potential. ® The discovery of a baluster-headed ringed pin, in add|t|on to a
wide assortment of metal artefacts, represented one of the possible medieval sites.® The
ringed pin was found in Richmond townland Site Q during the field walking survey.

In 2000 Archaeological Consultancy Services Ltd (ACS) investigated these potential
sites during monitored of topsoil removal along the route and verified that 13 of the 26 sites
identified during the field walking represented real archaeological sites. Full archaeologrcal
excavation of all sites by ACS subsequently took place well in advance of construction.’
Subsequent detailed excavation of Site Q by ACS mvolved a metal detection survey but this
produced only ten fragments of corroded iron, 8 all of which were relatively modern.
Excavation of Site Q revealed a single feature: a subsoil-cut trough measuring 1.6m by
0.08m, containing a 0.20m charcoal fill which dated to 1423-1657 Calibrated AD, firmly in
the late medieval period.®

Across the local road to the east Site J had been recognised as another burnt stone
spread and, interestingly, a pit here was radiocarbon dated to 1265—1424 Calibrated
AD, while bone from the adjacent burnt stone spread was radiocarbon dated to
1318—1444 Calibrated AD." Both dates imply a medieval date for the use of the burnt
stone technology, which is normally associated with Bronze Age activity."”

Description of the pin (Figure 2, Plates 1 & 2)"

The late Thomas Fanning’s publication of Viking Age ringed pins from the Medieval Dublin
Excavations 1962—81 is the definitive work on lIrish ringed pins. Ringed pins appear in
Ireland as dress accessories in the late fourth or early fifth century AD, with the spiral-ringed
(like a modern key-ring) baluster-headed pins being one of the earliest known forms.
Plain- rlnged baluster-headed pins can appear as early as the eight century on native Irish
sites."

The Richmond pin is made of a copper alloy. It is missing its ring which may have been
either of the spiral or plain ring type. The pin is curved both at the neck and near the tip
undoubtedly due to repeatedly being ploughed over for centuries; originally it would have
measured 135mm in length. The tip measures 2mm wide and 1mm thick at its narrowest
while the pin is 2-3mm wide along the shaft. The baluster head is rectangular, 5mm wide,
with lozenge-shaped section on one side. The perforation is 3mm in diameter, and is 5Smm
from the top of the head.
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Decoration

A dot motif running midway along each side of the pin shaft consists of about 18-20 single
dots in a roughly linear pattern. The spacing between the dots and their alignment is not
executed precisely. The baluster-head is decorated with thin collars above and below the
perforation, incised with short lines that run perpendicular to the collars. The neck of the
head has a collar containing three dots. On both faces a lozenge surrounds the perforation
with the base of the lozenge resting on the uppermost collar. On one face there is a single
dot above the lozenge; on the other face the base of the lozenge extends like two legs to
stand on the collar. The sides of the head closely resemble the typical cross motif pattern:
three dots across with two dots both above and below respectively. This decoration is often
found on such pins." Any decoration on the top of the head is now gone due to wear.

Discussion

Spiral-ringed baluster-headed ringed pins are known from a number of ringfort excavations:
Garryduff 1™ and Lisleagh,”® both in Co. Cork, the stone fort at Carriag Aille 2, Co.
Limerick,"” and the royal site of Lagére crannog in Co. Meath'® to name a few.

A comparable copper alloy baluster-headed ringed pin (ring missing) was recently
published from the early medieval (sixth-to-tenth centuries AD) secular cemetery at Knowth
Site M, Co. Meath.™ The Knowth pin was recovered in Cutting | from topsoil overlying one
of the lintelled graves on site. It measures 145mm in length (width not given), and has a
rectangular head decorated with pi-point or dot motif, and a square cross-section; the shaft
of this pin is circular at the base terminating in a sharp point. The decoration above and
below the perforation consisted of incised lines and a lozenge on one side only. The Knowth
example closely resembles the Richmond pin in size and decoration. Interestingly a bronze
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ring of circular profile, measuring 27mm in diameter, is also listed amongst the finds on Site
M; could this have belonged to the Knowth baluster-headed pin?*°

One copper alloy baluster-headed ringed pin (ring missing) is recorded from urban
excavations in Grattan Street in Cork City.*'The writer concludes that the pin, although
found in an organic layer associated with thirteenth-to-fourteenth century pottery, may have
been a residual find, possibly originally associated with St. Finbarr's monastic site.” The pin
measures 0.99mm in length, 6mm in width and 6mm in thickness, being shorter and stouter
than the Richmond and Knowth pins. The Cork pin is circular in cross-section, and the head
has traces of three grooved collars above and below the perforation. Its hour-glass ring
perforation measures 4mm and exhibites clear traces of wear.”

Eleven examples of the plain-ringed, baluster-headed type were excavated in the
Medieval Dublin excavations 1962—81. Of these two are recorded from Christchurch Place
(one dating from the mid-eleventh century, the other dating to the first half of the eleventh
century), one example from High Street from a tenth-century level, two examples from
Winetavern Street from a pre-Norman level, and six examples from Fishamble Street (five
from various dates in the tenth-century and one from an eleventh-century level).*

Baluster-headed ringed pins are recorded on a number of recent archaeological
excavations.?’ Excavations in advance of the South Eastern Motorway at Glebe, Co. Dublin
in 2000 revealed a copper ring which the excavator thought may have been from a
baluster-headed ringed pin; it was found in the eastern terminal of a ringfort ditch in
redeposited bank material.”® As no pin was actually found its designation as a baluster-
headed pin may have been a little tentative. In 2001 excavations in Adare Castle, Co.
Limerick produced an Early Medieval baluster-headed pin from within the drawbridge pit
associated with the castle. As the earliest recorded construction phase of Adare Castle is
in the first decades of the thirteenth century the excavator used the pin discovery as
supportive evidence for possibly an earlier structure on the site, such as a ringwork or
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Plate 1: Richmond baulster-headed ringed pin  (Photo Grahan Hull, TVAS)
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Plate 2: Close up of Richmond baulster-head showing detail of the
lozenge-shaped decoration on one face. (Photo Grahan Hull, TVAS)

From County Tipperary a copper-alloy pin (ring missing) was excavated recently on a
muti-period site in Twomileborris Co. Tipperary.? It was found in associaton with an unique
bone ‘castle-shaped’ object and a cache of 53 long-cross silver pennies of either King
Edward | or Il (early fourteenth-century).”® The recorded pins from the county include two
ringed pins and a bronze pin listed in the National Museum of Ireland (NMI) Topographic
Files. The ringed pins share the same file number (1956:415) and were listed as being
found near Tipperary town.** A bronze pin is recorded from Ballysheehan, north-east of
Cashel (1A 297/53), found in the ‘hummocky field with little bumps, like foundations of walls’
near Ballysheehan Motte.>' In summary, there are no specific baluster-headed ringed pins
listed in the NMI from county Tipperary. However two such pins in the NMI collection from
outside the county are similar to the Richmond pin, in having both an ornamental head and
dots down the shaft: the first is from Co. Antrim (SA 1927:76) and measures 102mm in
length with spiral ring still attached; the second, from Ardagh Co. Limerick (1941:1064),
measures 120mm in length with a perforation 5mm in diameter.”

Conclusion

As the Richmond pin has no ring surviving it could either have been of the plain-ringed or
spiral-ringed type, both of which were used as dress fasteners in the Early Medieval
period, and were particularly popular by the 8th century AD.* Where could the pin have
come from? It may have been simply lost by the wearer sometime in the past as they
travelled over the Richmond fields from a nearby ringfort. The nearest recorded ringforts
are two sites in Coolaholloga townland to the east (classified as enclosures).* It is possible
the pin derives from Site J, located across the local road to the east, although this
site produced medieval dates (earliest date is late thirteenth AD). The pits/burnt stone
technology at this site could relate to ancillary activity associated with the nearby fortified
house (site), now occupied by the ruins of Richmond House, only a few fields northeast of
where the pin was found.* It is also possible that the pin is associated with a site nearby
that remains undetected to this day.*
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The benefit of systematically walking ploughed fields in order to discover archaeological
sites has been long realised and with the discovery of so many new sites on the N52
Nenagh Bypass Link Road, has added greatly to our knowledge of the history of Nenagh
and its hinterland. The baluster-headed ringed pin from Richmond townland is an unique
discovery for this part of Tipperary, and its publication enhances the artefact record for the
county.
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